IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

THE UNIVERSITY OF MISSISSIPPI MEDICAL CENTER

APPELLANT

V.

CASE NO. 2007-TS-00114

JOHN HENRY MARTIN, Individually and on Behalf of Wrongful Death Beneficiaries of Martha Martin, YASHICA GOOD, Individually

APPELLEE

APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF HINDS COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

ORAL ARGUMENT REQUESTED BY APPELLANT

PREPARED AND SUBMITTED BY:

JOSEPH LERAY MCNAMARA, MSB #
STEPHANIE C. EDGAR, MSB #
COPELAND, COOK, TAYLOR & BUSH
Post Office Box 6020
Ridgeland, Mississippi 39158-6020
Telephone: (601) 856-7200
Facsimile: (601) 856-7626

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

STATEMENT OF ISSUE

I. Whether the Court erred in accepting and relying heavily upon the expert testimony of Dr. William Truly, which was both scientifically unreliable and demonstrative of his lack of expertise in the field of emergency medicine?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. FACTS

This lawsuit arises from the death of Mrs. Martha Martin, which allegedly occurred as a result of the University of Mississippi Medical Center's failure to diagnose a pulmonary embolus. On September 29, 2001, Mrs. Martin and her daughter, Yashica Good, were traveling on Interstate 20 when they were involved in an automobile accident. R.E. 2¹. During this accident, the air bags deployed and the seat belt bruised Mrs. Martin's chest. *Id.* Both women were transported to the emergency room at the University of Mississippi Medical Center ("UMMC") and arrived at approximately 8:30 p.m. *Id.* Mrs. Martin was under the care and treatment of Dr. Rick Carlton and Dr. Lisa DeFord Anderson, a UMMC resident. *Id.*

During her approximately seven-hour stay at UMMC on the evening of September 29, 2001, and the morning of September 30, 2001, Mrs. Martin was constantly observed and evaluated. *Id.* She underwent a battery of testing, including an electrocardiogram, chest x-ray, head CT scan and a head-to-toe physical examination. *Id.* By 4:00 a.m. on September 30, 2001, Mrs. Martin's only symptom of concern, a sporadic cough, had resolved itself. *Id.* As a result, Mrs. Martin was discharged home with very clear instructions to return to the UMMC emergency room should she begin coughing up blood or have other symptoms of distress. *Id.* No one from Mrs. Martin's family contacted anyone at UMMC following her discharge.

In the early afternoon of October 1, 2001, Mrs. Martin was found non-responsive by family members in her Jackson home. Some thirty-six hours after her UMMC discharge, Mrs. Martin was

¹References to Record Excerpts are designated herein as "R.E." R.E. 1 is the trial court docket. References to the trial transcript are designated herein as "T." References to the trial court record are designated herein as "R."

returned to UMMC where she was pronounced dead. R.E. 3. Dr. Steven Hayne autopsied the body and determined the immediate cause of death to be a saddle-type pulmonary embolus. R.E. 4.

B. COURSE OF PROCEEDINGS AND DISPOSITION BELOW

Following Mrs. Martin's death, her husband, John Henry Martin, individually and on behalf of Mrs. Martin's wrongful death beneficiaries, and her daughter, Yashica Good, filed this case on September 24, 2002. R. at 6. This lawsuit named UMMC; Toyota Motor Sales, USA, Inc.; Hallmark Imports, Inc.; and Dr. Rick Carlton. *Id.* UMMC answered on October 31, 2002, denying liability. R. at 14. On May 16, 2003, Appellees amended their Complaint to include claims against Toyota Motor Corporation of Japan. R. at 27. On May 29, 2003, UMMC answered Appellees' Amended Complaint and denied liability. R. at 36. On June 11, 2003, the trial court entered an Agreed Order dismissing Dr. Carlton from this action by virtue of his employment with UMMC. R. at 48. Likewise, on October 10, 2003, the trial court entered an Agreed Order of Dismissal as to the Appellees' claims against Toyota Motor Sales, USA, Inc.; Hallmark Imports, Inc. and Toyota Motor Corporation of Japan. Thereafter, this case proceeded to trial against the remaining defendant, UMMC, on April 12 and 13, 2005.

UMMC moved, prior to trial in a reply brief to Appellees' motion for summary judgment response, to either exclude or limit the expected testimony of Appellees' sole medical expert, Dr. William Truly. R. at 93. This motion was denied. R. at 101. At trial, UMMC voir dired Dr. Truly and moved that his opinions be excluded on the grounds that he was unqualified in the field of emergency medicine. T. at 27-33. The trial court, however, denied UMMC's motion to exclude Dr. Truly's testimony finding that he was an expert in the fields of both family and emergency medicine. T. at 33-34; R.E. 5. At trial, in addition to Dr. Truly, Appellees called Dr. Steven Hayne. T. at 122. Also, UMMC moved for the bench trial equivalent of a directed verdict at the close of the Appellees'

ţ

case-in-chief. T. at 190. This motion was also denied. *Id.*; R.E. 6. During its case-in-chief, UMMC called Dr. Frederick Carlton, Dr. Lisa DeFord-Anderson, Dr. Sara Broom and Dr. James Jefferson. T. at 192, 268, 293 and 310. Immediately after the trial of this case, UMMC renewed its Motion to Exclude Testimony of Plaintiffs' Expert, William Truly, M.D. and its Motion for Judgment under Rule 41(b). R. at 146.

Thereafter, some eighteen months following the two-day trial of this matter, the trial court issued its Opinion and Order, which relied heavily upon the faulty and unreliable opinions of Dr. Truly. R. at 166; R.E. 7. The Appellees were awarded \$500,000 in damages. *Id.* In the Court's Opinion and Order, the Court correctly noted that the Appellees relied solely on Dr. Truly "to testify regarding UMC's violation of the standard of care and the proximate cause of Mrs. Martin's death."

Id. at ¶ 10. The Appellees also called Dr. Steven Hayne to testify as an expert, and the Court correctly noted that Dr. Hayne testified that the immediate cause of Mrs. Martin's death was a saddle-type pulmonary embolus. *Id.* at ¶ 14.

On October 13, 2006, the trial court entered its Final Judgment in favor of the Appellees. R. at 172; R.E. 8. Following the Court's entry of the Final Judgment, on October 18, 2006, UMMC timely filed a Motion to Alter or Amend Judgment Pursuant to Rule 59(E), which addressed the arguments raised in this appeal. R. at 174. This motion was brought on for hearing on January 8, 2007. R. at 311. This motion, too, was ultimately denied. R. at 313; R.E. 9. Following the trial court's denial of UMMC's post-trial motion, this appeal was perfected in a timely manner. R. at 314.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The trial court erred in allowing Dr. Truly, unqualified in the area of emergency medicine, to testify as to the standard of care for an emergency room physician. Such error was further compounded when Dr. Truly purported to offer "expert" testimony, which was at odds with every other expert called by both Appellees and UMMC. Even Dr. Steven Hayne, designated and called by the Appellees, substantiated the testimony of UMMC's experts by opining that the pulmonary embolism at issue could not have been present during Mrs. Martin's September 29-30, 2001, UMMC admission.

Dr. Truly is, at best, only marginally qualified as a medical expert. Further, if Dr. Truly, as a family practitioner, is permitted to testify against UMMC emergency room physicians, any doctor can effectively testify against any other doctor no matter the specialty or sub-specialty, without restraint. Dr. Truly's testimony was wholly unreliable under *Daubert v. Merrell Dow Pharmaceuticals, Inc.*, 509 U.S. 579 (1993), and Rule 702 of the Mississippi Rules of Evidence, and Dr. Truly's testimony should not have been considered by the trial court in its judgment for the Appellees. The trial court's reliance upon Dr. Truly's testimony was severely misplaced and not supported by substantial, credible or reasonable evidence.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

"A circuit court judge sitting without a jury is accorded the same deference with regard to his findings as a chancellor and his findings are safe on appeal where they are supported by substantial, credible, and reasonable evidence." *City of Jackson v. Perry*, 764 So.2d 373, 376 (Miss. 2000). Further, an appellate court will not disturb the trial judge's findings "unless they are manifestly wrong, clearly erroneous, or an erroneous legal standard was applied." *Id*.

ARGUMENT

- I. Whether the Court Erred in Accepting and Relying Heavily upon the Expert

 Testimony of Dr. Truly, which was both Scientifically Unreliable and Demonstrative of His

 Lack of Expertise in the Field of Emergency Medicine?
 - A. Scientific Invalidity of Dr. William Truly's Expert Opinion and Testimony

This case is premised upon the issue of whether UMMC failed to diagnose a saddle-type pulmonary embolus on September 29-30, 2001. While the trial court correctly noted that Dr. Steven Hayne, an expert called by Appellees, testified that the immediate cause of Mrs. Martin's death was a saddle-type pulmonary embolus, the trial court incorrectly stated in its Opinion and Order that Dr. Hayne was of the opinion that the pulmonary embolus was developed when Mrs. Martin was involved in the accident immediately prior to her death. R. at 166 at ¶14. In actuality, Dr. Hayne testified that the embolus could not possibly have been present while Mrs. Martin was being treated at the UMMC Emergency Department because Mrs. Martin's vital signs, especially her oxygen saturation, were normal while she was at UMC. T. at 138-140. Dr. Hayne explained that if the embolus had been present, Mrs. Martin's oxygen saturation would have been fifty percent or less, and more than likely would have been zero. T. at 139. In other words, since Mrs. Martin's oxygen saturation and blood pressure were normal while she was at UMMC, then according to Dr. Hayne, the embolus had not developed yet. *Id.* If it had, her oxygen saturation would have been fifty percent or less and her blood pressure would have been low. *Id.*

Five out of the six medical experts, Dr. Frederick "Rick" Carlton, Dr. Lisa DeFord Anderson, Dr. Sara Broom, Dr. James Jefferson and Dr. Steven Hayne, agreed that this is the science of a pulmonary embolus. T. at 138-140, 208-210, 273-274, 276, 299, 304-306, 317. Dr. Truly was the only expert who claimed that a patient's vital signs and oxygen saturation can be normal when they

are experiencing shortness of breath and chest pain stemming from a saddle-type pulmonary embolus. T. at 161-162. Conversely, every other expert, including Dr. Hayne, testified that the patient's blood pressure and oxygen levels would be extremely low. T. at 138-140, 208-210, 273-274, 276, 299, 304-306.

Further, all other experts, save for Dr. Truly testified that if Mrs. Martin's symptoms were being caused by a saddle-type pulmonary embolus, she would have died within thirty minutes to two hours of the onset of these symptoms. T. at 140, 240, 291, 299, 317. Again, even Dr. Hayne, who was called by the Appellees, agreed with this scientific fact, and even went so far as to explain that once these symptoms are experienced, "[I]t's time to get the priest, sir." T. at 139. Further, Dr. Carlton, called by UMMC and board-certified in emergency medicine, testified that a huge pulmonary embolism such as that found at autopsy with Mrs. Martin "is a sudden catastrophic event." T. at 208. In addition, Dr. DeFord-Anderson, another expert called by UMMC, explained that the symptoms of a massive pulmonary embolism such as that involved in this case, are "unmistakable. Generally, if they're conscious, their respiratory rates can be as high as sixty to eighty times per minute, they're sweating profusely, gasping for air, things of this nature, often unable to speak." T. at 276. Moreover, Dr. Broom, board-certified in internal medicine, pulmonary diseases and sleep medicine, testified "[A] saddle pulmonary embolus is a massive pulmonary embolus. It's a catastrophic event. A person often falls out, has a blackout. Blood pressure is very low, often less than 90 systolic, the upper number on the blood pressure, is often less than 90, unconscious and frequently dies." T. at 299. Finally, Dr. Jefferson, testifying on behalf of UMMC, testified as follows:

Well, if I'm understanding Dr. Truly's opinion, he's saying that the pulmonary embolus was already present when this lady presented to the emergency room. I don't agree with that...Well, knowing that it's a saddle pulmonary embolus. That is a catastrophic event. When that occurs, you have maybe 30 minutes to a couple hours to live. It is

sometimes—you know it's happening and you cannot even get the therapy that is required to save the individual's life because it is that quick in taking you to heaven. It is a horrible disease. Pulmonary embolus comes in all shades so to speak. But this particular type, a saddle embolus, is the worst kind.

T. at 317. Thus, all experts except Dr. Truly testified that the reliable nationally known medical fact is that people with a saddle-type pulmonary embolus almost always die immediately, and at best, they live no more than two hours after the onset of symptoms.

By contrast, Mrs. Martin lived almost thirty-six hours after she was discharged from UMMC. Ex. 3. This fact, when coupled with the fact that her vital signs remained absolutely normal during the entire time she was at the UMMC Emergency Department, belies the first flaw in the Appellees' use of Dr. Truly as an expert in this case. Dr. Truly's opinions were unreliable because they were patently scientifically invalid, and the science upon which he relied was not applied reliably to the facts of this particular set of circumstances.

Mrs. Martin's symptoms were either being caused by an embolus, or by the trauma of the automobile accident she was in prior to admission. As noted above, five out of the six experts who testified at trial, except Dr. Truly, were positive that scientifically and medically speaking, if Mrs. Martin had presented to the UMMC Emergency Department with a saddle-type pulmonary embolus, her vital signs would have shown it. T. at 138-140, 208-210, 273-274, 276, 299, 304-306, 317. All of the experts, except Dr. Truly, agreed that at the very least, if Mrs. Martin's embolus had been present while she was at UMMC, her oxygen saturation would have been fifty percent or lower, and her blood pressure would have been abnormally low. *Id.* Again, even Dr. Hayne, who had been called by the Appellees, agreed that these are simply the medical and scientific facts. T. at 138-140.

If the embolus is present, it shuts down the blood flow causing a drop in blood pressure and oxygen saturation. If Mrs. Martin's symptoms were being caused by the embolus, then, as all the

experts except Dr. Truly agreed, her vital signs would have given some clue as to the embolus' presence. T. at 138-140, 208-210, 273-274, 276, 299, 304-306, 317. However, Mrs. Martin's blood pressure and oxygen saturation were normal the entire time she was present at UMMC. Thus, the embolus could not have been present while she was a patient at UMMC on September 29-30, 2001.

Dr. Truly repeatedly opined that Mrs. Martin developed the embolus before her arrival at UMMC, and that it was present and diagnosable while she was in the UMMC Emergency Department. T. at 55-58, 151. No other expert believed this to be true. Dr. Sara Broom, a pulmonologist called by UMMC, did say, that it was possible that Mrs. Martin already had a *clot* in her leg prior to admission, but she testified that even as a board-certified pulmonologist, she would not have suspected a *pulmonary embolus* given Mrs. Martin's vital signs, and clinical presentation. T. at 302, 306. A blood clot in one's leg and a diagnosable pulmonary embolus are two entirely different medical phenomena. T. at 298.

Dr. Truly was the Appellees' sole expert on the issues of the standard of care, breach of the standard of care, and proximate cause, and, as shown above, his opinions were not reliable and actually revealed a scientific impossibility. Under Mississippi law, "[t]o be relevant and reliable, the testimony must be scientifically valid and capable of being applied to the facts at issue." *Moss v. Batesville Casket Co., Inc.*, 935 So.2d 393, ¶34 (Miss. 2006)(citing *Mississippi Transportation Comm'n v. McLemore*, 863 So.2d 31, 36 (Miss. 2003)). *See also Poole ex rel. Poole v. Avara*, 908 So.2d 716, 721-25 (Miss. 2005). And, when applying the science to the facts involved in the case, the *Poole* Court held, "[t]he rule is that the expert must exercise the same level of intellectual rigor that characterizes the practice of an expert in the relevant field. *Poole*, 908 So.2d at ¶16 (citing *McLemore*, 863 So.2d at 37-38).

Dr. Truly's testimony and opinion that Mrs. Martin presented to the UMMC Emergency Department with a saddle-type pulmonary embolus was not scientifically valid. T. at 151. No expert, including Appellees' other expert, Dr. Hayne, felt that this was scientifically possible given the medical facts of the case. T. at 138-140, 208-210, 273-274, 276, 299, 304-306, 317. Even the pulmonary specialist called by UMMC testified that she saw no reason to even test for an embolus based on Mrs. Martin's symptoms. T. at 306. Yet, Dr. Truly contends that UMMC is liable for not discovering this embolus, which scientifically could not possibly have been causing Mrs. Martin's chest pain and difficulty in breathing. If the embolus had been causing these symptoms, all of the experts (except Dr. Truly) agreed that Mrs. Martin's vital signs would have been low and she would have died within thirty minutes to two hours. T. at 138-140, 208-210, 240, 273-274, 276, 291, 299, 304-306, 317. Since Mrs. Martin's vital signs were normal at UMMC and she lived over thirty-six hours after she was discharged, Dr. Truly's opinion is scientifically flawed on a fundamental basis.

B. Dr. William Truly's Lack of Emergency Medicine Expert Qualification

The second flaw in the Appellees' use of Dr. Truly as an expert concerns his lack of qualification to offer testimony against an emergency room physician. Dr. Truly admitted that he is not board certified in emergency medicine, and that he had not worked in an emergency room since approximately 1997. T. at 28, 29. He could not even clearly remember when he last worked in an emergency room and testified "the last time when I was a full emergency room physician was I think, if I recall correctly, in the late 90s, maybe '98, '99, in which I was really on schedule doing a lot of emergency medicine." T. at 28. Despite the fact that Dr. Truly had not practiced emergency medicine for a great while, he, nevertheless, attempted to opine that he was familiar with the 2001 standard of care in emergency rooms he "observe[s] the operation of the emergency department everyday. My office is in the juxtaposition to the emergency room department at Madison County

Medical Center." T. at 31. Thus, in essence, Appellees asked the trial court to qualify Dr. Truly as an emergency room expert, not because he was an expert in the field of emergency medicine, but rather, because he practiced close to an emergency room. However, while he is a family practitioner and admits patients as a family practitioner, Dr. Truly does not stand in the trenches of a modern emergency room treating patients. And, Dr. Truly did not lay a proper foundation for familiarity with the standard of care in a modern emergency department in a large teaching hospital such as UMMC during the year 2001.

Dr. Truly has not exercised the same level of intellectual rigor that characterizes the practice of an expert in the field of emergency medicine. Instead, he is a family practitioner, who not having practiced in the emergency room setting in many years, provided a scientifically flawed opinion. As mentioned above, Dr. Truly admitted that he is not board certified in emergency medicine, and that he had not worked in an emergency room since approximately 1998. T. at 28, 29. Dr. Truly did not participate in an emergency medicine residency and, in fact, did not do a residency in any type of medicine. T. at 25. Dr. Truly could not even clearly remember when exactly the last time he worked in an emergency room was. T. at 28. Dr. Truly attempted to opine that he is familiar with the current standard of care in emergency rooms because his office located close to an emergency room, but he did not lay a proper foundation for familiarity with the standard of care in a modern emergency department in a large teaching hospital such as UMMC during the year 2001. T. at 31. Adding insult to injury, Dr. Truly even went so far as to discount the value of a physician's actual physical evaluation of a patient in the following exchange with counsel for UMMC:

Q. And, so – I mean it's an obvious conclusion though that you were not involved in the treatment of this patient and you did not have the opportunity to observe the patient in a clinical setting, correct?

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