IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

THE UNIVERSITY OF MISSISSIPPI MEDICAL CENTER

APPELLANT

V.

CASE NO. 2007-TS-00114

JOHN HENRY MARTIN, INDIVIDUALLY AND ON BEHALF OF WRONGFUL DEATH BENEFICIARIES OF MARTHA MARTIN, YASHICA GOOD, INDIVIDUALLY

APPELLEES

APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF HINDS COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI

BRIEF OF THE APPELLEES

ORAL ARGUMENT REQUESTED BY APPELLEES

PREPARED AND SUBMITTED BY:

DENNIS C. SWEET, III, MSB # SWEET & ASSOCIATES
158 EAST PASCAGOULA STREET
JACKSON, MISSISSIPPI 39201
PHONE: (601) 965-8700
FACSIMILE: (601) 965-8719

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEES

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The trial court's ruling should be affirmed. The trial court was correct in determining that Dr. Truly was qualified as an expert witness. Dr. Truly's testimony was relevant and reliable, and met the required standards set forth in *Mississippi Transportation Commission v*. *McLemore*, 863 So.2d 31 (Miss. 2003). Dr. Truly's testimony illustrated that he had the experience, skill, training, and knowledge in the field of emergency medicine. His testimony also demonstrated that he had treated patients with pulmonary embolus before, and was also very experienced in detecting and treating this disease. Additionally, his theory that UMMC negligently failed to test Mrs. Martin for pulmonary embolus also met the standards set forth in *Dalbert v. Merrell Dow Pharms., Inc.*, 509 U.S. 579 (1993).

The trial court also has the sole discretion in determining whether an expert witness is qualified. One of the major safeguards articulated in *Dalbert* is that the scientific knowledge and experience of an expert must assist the trier of fact in understanding or deciding a fact in issue. However, since the case at bar was a bench trial, without a jury, these safeguards are not as vital. The trial judge is given the widest possible discretion in designating if a witness is an expert, and cannot be overruled unless there is a clear abuse of discretion. Because in the case at bar there is no abuse of discretion by the trial judge, the trial court's ruling should be affirmed.

ARGUMENT

- II. Whether the Trial Court was Correct in Accepting and Relying upon the Expert Testimony of Dr. William Truly, Which was Both Scientifically Reliable and Demonstrated his Expertise in the Field of Emergency Medicine?
 - A. Dr. Truly's Testimony was Scientific and Reliable, thus Satisfying McLemore

The trial court was correct in designating Dr. William Truly as an expert witness. This Court has specifically stated that a trial judge has sole discretion to qualify an expert witness, and permit his testimony. *Roberts*, 701 So.2d at 1093. Additionally, the Court has held that the trial court is vested with "the gatekeeping responsibility" to review the scientific evidence presented by an expert witness to determine admissibility. *Daubert v. Merrell Dow Pharms, Inc.*, 509 U.S. 579 (1993). Since in this case Dr. Truly's testimony was scientifically reliable, the trial court's ruling should stand.

The analysis to determine the admissibility of an expert witness is stated in Mississippi Rules of Evidence, Rule 702. This rule states:

If scientific, technical or other specialized knowledge will assist the trier of fact to understand or to determine a fact in issue, a witness qualified as an expert by knowledge, skill, experience, training, or education may testify thereto in the form of an opinion or otherwise, if (1) the testimony is based upon sufficient facts or data, (2) the testimony is the product of reliable principles and methods, and (3) the witness has applied the principles and methods reliably to the facts of the case.

M.R.E. 702.

Under Rule 702, expert testimony is admitted only if it satisfies a two prong test stated in *Mississippi Transportation Comm'n v. McLemore*, 863 So. 2d 31, 35 (Miss. 2003). First, the witness must be "qualified by virtue of his or her knowledge, skill, experience, or education". *Id.* Second, the witness's "scientific, technical or other specialized knowledge must assist the trier of

fact in understanding or deciding a fact in issue." *Id.* Both of these prongs are satisfied in this case, and Dr. Truly's testimony was correctly admitted.

1. Dr. Truly was Qualified through his Knowledge, Skill, Experience and Education to Render an Opinion

The first prong states that a witness must be qualified through their "knowledge, skill, experience, or education". *Id.* Dr. Truly was unquestionably qualified to testify as an expert witness in the case *sub judice*. Dr. Truly was a medical school graduate who specialized in family medicine and also emergency medicine. He testified that he was a member of the Jackson Medical Society of Mississippi, Surgical and Pharmaceutical Society, and the National Medical Association. T.R. at 26. Dr. Truly also has over thirty-four (34) years of experience in emergency medicine. T.R. at 34. He testified that his practice in emergency medicine has continued by treating seizure patients, patients who are hypoxic from COPD, and, similar to this case, patients with pulmonary emboli. T.R. at 29.

Dr. Truly has experience in treating patients with pulmonary embolus, and is therefore was qualified to testify in this case. He in fact testified about his experience with a patient with pulmonary embolus. This patient, like Mrs. Martin, had chest pain and shortness in breath. T.R. at 35. Dr. Truly testified that he decided to work the patient up by performing "impendance phlethymography" in order to determine if she had pulmonary embolus, which in that case the patient did. *Id.* After determining that the patient had pulmonary embolus, he was able to treat him by using Heparin, which stops the organization of blood clots. *Id.* Unlike Dr. Truly, Dr. Carlton negligently failed to perform impendance phlethymography to determine if Mrs. Martin had pulmonary embolus, which resulted in her unfortunate death.

Dr. Truly also presented several risk factors of pulmonary embolus. These factors include shortness of breath, chest pain, obesity and age. T.R. at 39. Dr. Truly testified that when Mrs.

Martin was treated at UMMC on September 30, 2001, these risk factors were present. Being involved in the vehicular accident, Mrs. Martin experienced a shortness of breath, and also had chest pain. She weighed about 290 pounds, which, according to the basal metabolic index, illustrated that she was considered morbidly obese. T.R. at 49. Finally, because she was 59 years old, this put her at a higher risk of obtaining pulmonary embolus.

The defendants contend that because Dr. Truly was not board certified, the trial court erred in designating him as an expert witness. This Court has stated that if a physician who is sufficiently familiar with the standards of a medical specialty, then he may testify as an expert even though he may not practice the specialty himself. West v. Sanders Clinic for Women, P.A., 661 So.2d 714, 718-19 (Miss. 1995). Although Dr. Truly was not board certified, he was sufficiently familiar with the standards of emergency room medicine, which allowed him to testify as an expert witness.

Additionally, the facts of the case at bar are similar to those involved in the recent opinion of *Mississippi Dept. of Mental Health v. Hall*, 936 So. 2d 917 (Miss. 2006). In *Hall*, East Mississippi Hospital objected to expert witness Dr. Hiatt's testimony to the plaintiff's physical injuries and what medical expenses she might incur in the future. *Id.* at 927. East Mississippi argued that Dr. Hiatt, who had practiced family medicine in the past, "was not an expert in orthopedics, infectious disease, vascular medicine, pain management or neurology." *Id.*

However, this Court pointed out that East Mississippi failed to point out that Dr. Hiatt "served as a general medical officer in the U.S. Air Force, had served as a flight surgeon for the Mississippi Air National Guard, and had performed or assisted in numerous orthopedic surgeries. He was familiar with the use of antibiotics and how they treat infections." *Id.* This Court held that Dr. Hiatt's testimony was admissible because of his lengthy experience as a physician, and

that his testimony was relevant and reliable. *Id.* at 928. Similar to the case at bar, Dr. Truly had lengthy experience as an emergency room physician and was familiar with emergency room medicine. He has treated patients with pulmonary embulos in the past, and was experienced in detecting and treating this disease. Therefore, the trial court was correct in admitting Dr. Truly as an expert witness.

Moreover, in the case of *University of Mississippi Medical Center v. Pounders*, UMC contended that because expert witness Dr. Pande was not a pulmonologist, he should have not been allowed to testify on matters concerning aspiration pneumonia. 970 So.2d 141, 146 (Miss. 2007). However, this Court recognized that "a witness need not be a specialist in any particular profession to testify as an expert". *Hubbard v. Wansley*, 954 So.2d 951, 957 (Miss.2007). This Court also pointed out that although Dr. Pande was a neurologist, and not a pulmonologist, he was qualified as a neurologist because he had treated patients similar to the plaintiff. *Pounders*, 970 So. 2d at 146. Again, similar to the case at bar, Dr. Truly was an expert in the field of family medicine, and was qualified as an expert in emergency room medicine since he had treated patients in this field.

2. The Trial Judge Sat as the Trier of Fact in Place of a Jury

The second prong that was stated in *McLemore* was "the witness's scientific, technical or other specialized knowledge must assist the trier of fact in understanding or deciding a fact in issue." 863 So. 2d at 35. In the case at bar, the trial judge sat as the trier of fact in place of the jury. In *Gibbs v. Gibbs*, the court stated that "most of the safeguards provided for in *Daubert* are not as essential in a case such as this where a district judge sits as the trier of fact in place of a jury". 210 F.3d 491, 500 (5th Cir. 2000). The Court held in this case that the expert witness

testimony was scientifically valid, and because this was a bench trial, the testimony was correctly admitted. *Id.*

Trial judges have a "gatekeeping" responsibility to ensure that a witness is qualified to testify as an expert. *Daubert*, 509 U.S. at 579. This responsibility makes certain that jurors are given proper expert testimony. In *Edmonds v. State*, this Court explained the significant impact that expert witnesses can have on jurors. It explained that "juries are often in awe of expert witnesses because, when the expert witness is qualified by the court, they hear impressive lists of honors, education and experience. An expert witness has more experience and knowledge in a certain area than the average person." *Edmonds v. State*, 955 So.2d 787, 792 (Miss. 2007). However, in the case at bar, because there was no jury but only a presiding trial judge, the trial judge is given the sole discretion to admit an expert witness. *Roberts*, 701 So.2d at 1093

Additionally, "[a] trial judge's determination as to whether a witness is qualified to testify as an expert is given the widest possible discretion and that decision will only be disturbed when there has been a clear abuse of discretion." Smith v. State, 925 So.2d 825, 834 (Miss. 2006) (quoting Sheffield v. Goodwin, 740 So.2d 854, 856 (Miss.1999)). Moreover, "the trial court has the sole authority in determining credibility of witnesses when sitting as a trier of fact in a bench trial". Pounders, 970 So. 2d at 146. (see also Pride Oil Co. v. Tommy Brooks Oil Co., 761 So.2d 187, 193 (Miss.2000). This authority therefore means that a trial judge has the prerogative to place whatever authority on the testimony of an expert. Id.

In the present case, the trial judge had the sole discretion to admit Dr. Truly. The trial judge did not abuse this discretion because Dr. Truly was a qualified expert witness. As stated before, his testimony was relevant and reliable, in that he had both the qualifications and

experience in emergency medicine. Nonetheless, the trial judge did not err in his decision of allowing Dr. Truly to testify as an expert witness.

B. Dr. Truly's Theory of Mrs. Martin's Death Satisfies the Dalbert Factors

In *Dalbert*, there are four factors to determine the admissibility of an expert witness. These factors include: (1) whether the theory can be, and has been, tested; (2) whether the theory has been published or subjected to peer review; (3) any known rate of error; and (4) the general acceptance that the theory has garnered in the relevant expert community. 509 U.S. at 593-94. Dr. Truly theory of Mrs. Martin's death satisfies all four of these factors, which illustrates that the trial court was correct in admitting him as an expert witness.

The first factor in *Daubert* is whether the theory has been tested. *Id.* Dr. Truly's theory was that if the emergency room physician would have tested Mrs. Martin for pulmonary embolus, it would have been detected and treated. He also believed that if UMMC would have paid attention to Mrs. Martin's risk factors and signs of pulmonary embolus, this disease would have been noticed. Dr. Truly's testified that he tested his theory on several of his patients. He testified that he used a test called "impedance phlethymography" to detect if one of his patients had pulmonary embolus. T.R. at 35. This test helped to determine that the patient did indeed have pulmonary embolus, which enabled Dr. Truly was able to treat it. *Id.* Because Dr. Truly theory has been tested, this therefore satisfies the first factor of *Daubert*.

The second factor in *Daubert* is whether the theory has been published or subject to peer review. 509 U.S. at 593. Dr. Truly's theory about Mrs. Martin's signs of potential risk factors of pulmonary embolus has been published. Dr. Truly testified that he relied upon the medical article "Perioperative Use of Anticoagulants and Thrombolytics" in his practice. T.R. at 48. This well-known published document listed the risk factors of pulmonary embolus. The risk factors

included major trauma, obesity, hypertension, and heavy cigarette smoking. T.R. at 49. Dr. Truly's theory was that if UMMC would have seen that Mrs. Martin did show signs of these risk factors, then they should have tested her for pulmonary embolus. Because Dr. Truly's theory has been published, this therefore satisfies the second factor in *Daubert*.

The third factor in *Daubert* is if the theory has any known rate of error. 509 U.S. at 594. During Dr. Truly's testimony, he was asked to read from a medical article called "Pulmonary Embolism". T. R. at 59 In this article, he read the mortality rate of patients who receive appropriate treatment for pulmonary embolus. T.R. at 60. The mortality rate is only 8 percent to 10 percent for those patients who are diagnosed and treated for pulmonary embolus. *Id.* If UMMC would have followed Dr. Truly's theory of testing Mrs. Martin for pulmonary embolus, her chances of dying would have decreased. Since Dr. Truly theory has a low rate of error, this therefore satisfies the third factor in *Daubert*.

The final factor in *Daubert* is whether there has been a general acceptance of the theory in the relevant expert community. 509 U.S. at 594. Throughout Dr. Truly's testimony, he read from several well known medical articles that demonstrated that his theory has been accepted in the expert community. Because of this alone, this factor is satisfied as well.

Dr. Truly's theory meets all of the four factors mentioned in *Daubert*. His theory has been tested, published, has a low rate of error, and also generally accepted in the expert community. Because Dr. Truly theory satisfies all four of these requirements, then therefore the trial court's decision of admitting Dr. Truly as an expert witness was correct.

C. Judge Kidd, as the Trier of Fact, Sufficiently Determined What Weight to Give to the Testimony of Dr. Truly

The trial judge, which in this case was Judge Kidd, had the role as a trier of fact to determine the weight and credibility of Dr. Truly's testimony. This Court has held that "it is

enough to say that the [trial judge sitting without a jury], and not the reviewing court, judges the credibility of the witnesses as well as the weight and worth of their conflicting testimony." Scott Addison Construction, Inc. v. Lauderdale County School System, 789 So. 2d 771, 773 (Miss. 2001) (quoting Burrell v. State, 613 So. 2d 1186, 1192 (Miss. 1993)).

In the case at bar, there is no way for UMMC to know how much credibility and/or weight Judge Kidd gave to Dr. Truly's testimony in reaching his judgment. Dr. Truly's testimony was only one piece of evidence which the trial court heard and considered. Like any trial judge sitting without a jury, the role of the judge is to access each piece of evidence, including testimony, and to give each piece of evidence and testimony the weight which he/she feels it deserves. It is only after weighing all of the evidence as a whole does the trial court renders its judgment. Nonetheless, since the trial judge had the discretion to determine what weight to give to Dr. Truly's testimony, the trial court's ruling should stand.

CONCLUSION

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